

# Jimma University School of Graduate Studies Department of Biology

Larval Habitat Characterization, Spatial Distribution, and Species Composition of *Anopheles* Mosquitoes in Bambasi Woreda, Benshangul Gumuz Region, Northwestern Ethiopia

By: Hawi keno

Advisors: Eba Alemayehu (PhD)

Professor Delenasaw Yewhalaw

Gadisa Natea (MSc)

A thesis submitted to, Department of Biology, School of Graduate Studies, Jimma University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Biology (Ecology and Systematic Zoology)

> July, 2021 Jimma, Ethiopia

Jimma University School of Graduate Studies College of Natural Sciences Department of Biology

Larval Habitat Characterization, Spatial Distribution, and Species Composition of *Anopheles* Mosquitoes in Bambasi Woreda, Benshangul Gumuz Region, Northwestern Ethiopia

By: Hawi keno

Approval sheet

	Signature	date
Advisors: Eba Alemayehu (PhD)		
Delenasaw Yewhalaw (Prof.)	)	
Gadisa Natea (MSc)		
Examiner:		

# Declaration

I, the Undersigned, declare that this thesis entitled <u>Larval habitat characterization, spatial</u> <u>distribution, and species composition of *Anopheles* mosquitoes in Bambasi Woreda, <u>Northwestern Ethiopia</u> is my original work and that all sources of materials used for the thesis have been correctly acknowledged.</u>

Hawi Keno

Name

Signature

Date

# Abstract

Malaria is a widespread vector-borne disease in tropics and subtropics causing nearly half a million deaths every year. Malaria vectors control interventions mainly rely on the control of adults using indoor residual sprayings (IRS) and long lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs). However, in regions where the primary malaria vector is exophilic or bites before people are in bed, making indoor residual spraying and impregnated bed nets less effective. It is also important to focus on the breeding sites of mosquitoes as part of malaria vector control interventions. The purpose of this study was to determine the larval composition of Anopheles mosquitoes in different breeding habitats and to characterize the breeding habitats by assessing the environmental and physicochemical parameters in Bambasi Woreda, Benshangul Gumuz region, Northwestern Ethiopia. Three major Anopheles mosquitoes larvae breeding habitats were identified in three Kebeles, namely, drainage ditch (Keshmando), swamp (Amba 46), and stagnant water (Amba 47). Anopheles mosquito larvae were collected using a standard dipper. A total of 2185 larvae Anopheles mosquitoes were collected and 1786 adults reared from larvae. At Keshmando, the abundance of An. gambiae s.l. was found to be 99.80%, and that of An. coustani was 0.2%. At Amba 46, the abundance of An. gambiae s.l. was found to be 99.5% and An. funestus was 0.5% whereas a single An. coustani larva was not detected. Amba 47 was dominated by An. gambiae s.l. (98.85%). Anopheles species were abundantly collected from stagnant water in natural habitats. These habitats are temporary with still water in sunlight, making conditions suitable for the development of anopheline mosquitoes. Throughout the study period, low Anopheles larval abundance was recorded in the maximum mean EC, salinity, and TDS  $18.46\pm0.05\mu$ S/cm,  $5.54\pm1.00$  PSU and  $12.19\pm0.26$ mg/L respectively in a drainage ditch. However, Anopheline larvae were abundantly collected from stagnant water with DO  $(3.27\pm0.12mg/L)$  and high water temperature. This study suggested that environmental and physicochemical factors could have played an important role in the development of mosquito larvae in their habitats. Therefore, targeting and documenting highly productive habitats is important for further implementation of larval control as part of malaria vector control interventions in Ethiopia.

Key words: Anopheles mosquitoes, larval habitats, malaria, Bambasi, Ethiopia

# Acknowledgment

I thank God every day for giving me the opportunity to pursue and complete this master degree in the scare time of the outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19) and his protection from this epidemic disease and for all the people that helped me throughout my study period.

My advisors Dr. Eba Alemayehu, Professor Delenasaw Yewhalaw and Mr. Gadisa Natea were persons that I relied on the most. I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Eba Alemayehu for his consistent invaluable advice, constructive comments and follow up right from start to the completion of my work. I consider myself very lucky for being able to work with him. I thank Professor Delenasaw Yewhalaw for his advice and support. Additionally, I want to thank Mr. Gadisa Natea for his advice and helpful feedback. I want to express my gratitude to Assosa University for allowing me to use the entomology laboratory, equipment and logistics; especially many thanks goes to Dr. Desta Ejeta, for his help for connecting me with the right people, support and advice during the study. My special thanks goes to Tadesse Tefera, Assosa University laboratory technician, for his support in providing me a lot of information regarding breeding area, larvae collection and identification. I am also thankful to Ato Kejela Ejeta, for his support during larvae collection. I would like to thank Mr. Tokuma Negisho and Dr. Mulugeta Wakjira for giving me the palintest instrument, and my classmates Badebo Awalo and Ararse Taressa.

I would also like to give many thanks for my father, my sisters and brothers, especially Tesfaye keno, and all my relatives and friends, thanks for your moral support, love and encouragements during my study. My mother Aster is wonderful, and has always prayed for my success and a healthy life.

Contents

Declaration
Abstract III
Acknowledgment IV
Table of Contents
List of Acronyms and AbbreviationsVII
List of tables VIII
List of figures
List of platesX
CHAPTER ONE
1. Introduction
1.1. Background of the study1
1.2. Statement of the problem
1.3. Objectives of the study
1.3.1. General objective
1.3.2. Specific objectives
1.4. Significance of the study
CHAPTER TWO
2. Literature review
2.1. Malaria vectors
2.2. Life cycle of <i>Anopheles</i> mosquitoes
2.3. Mosquito breeding habitats
2.4. Anopheles ecology and malaria epidemiology in Ethiopia
2.5. Effect of biotic and abiotic factors on larval mosquito population
2.5.1. Environmental Factors
2.5.2. Physicochemical parameters
2.6. Malaria vector control

CHAPTER THREE	2
3. Materials and Methods	2
3.1. Description of the study area	2
3.2. Mosquito larval sampling	3
3.3. Identification of adult <i>Anopheles</i> mosquitoes	6
3.4. Larval habitat characterization	6
3.5. Data analysis	8
CHAPTER FOUR	9
4. Results	9
4.1. Species composition of <i>Anopheles</i> mosquitoes	9
4.2. Anopheles larval productivity in different habitat types	C
4.3. Abundance and distribution of <i>Anopheles</i> mosquitoes in breeding sites	1
4.4. Distribution of <i>Anopheles</i> larvae density during the months of study	2
4.5. Monthly distribution of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae	3
4.6. Relative monthly contribution of the aquatic habitats to anopheline larval production 24	4
4.7. Physical characteristics of larval habitat and distribution of Anopheles larvae	5
4.8. Physicochemical characteristics of the habitats	7
CHAPTER FIVE	8
5. Discussions	8
CHAPTER SIX	3
6. Conclusions and Recommendations	3
6.1. Conclusions	3
6.2. Recommendations	4
References	5

# List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

- An. = *Anopheles*
- ANOVA = One way analysis of variance
- DO = Dissolved Oxygen
- EC = Electrical Conductivity
- FMoH = Federal Ministry of Health
- ICIPE = International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology
- IRS = Indoor Residual Spraying
- LLIN = Long-lasting Insecticidal Net
- LSM = Larval source management
- pH = Hydrogen ion concentration
- PMI = President's Malaria Initiative
- SPSS = Statistical package for social sciences
- TDS = Total dissolved solids
- WHO = World Health Organization

# List of tables

Table 4-1: Abundance of adult Anopheles mosquitoes reared from larvae.    20
Table 4-2: Mean monthly larval densities of Anopheles larvae of the three habitats.       21
Table 4-3: Breeding sites and Anopheles species.    22
Table 4-4: Comparison of mean larval density of Anopheles by area and month
Table 4-5: Monthly distributions of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae in Keshmando.
Table 4-6: Monthly distributions of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae in Amba 46 24
Table 4-7: Monthly distributions of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae in Amba 47 24
Table 4-8: Monthly contribution of the different larval habitats to anopheline larval production.
Table 4-9: Physical habitat characteristics and abundance of Anopheles species in the three
breeding sites
Table 4-10: The Mean $\pm$ SD of physicochemical parameters of larval habitat

# List of figures

Figure 3.1: Map of Study Area	
Figure 4.1: Abundance of Anopheles larvae collected from different localities during	the study
period.	

# List of plates

Plate 1: Anopheles larval collection from different breeding sites (A) drainage ditch, (B) swan	np
and (C) stagnant water.	. 15
Plate 2: The experimental setup	. 15
Plate 3: Identification, preserving and labeling of Anopheles mosquitoes	. 16
Plate 4: Measurement of water quality of larval breeding sites	. 18

# **CHAPTER ONE**

# **1. Introduction**

#### **1.1. Background of the study**

Malaria is transmitted to humans by the bite of adult female *Anopheles* mosquitoes (Cox, 2010). In 2019, worldwide there were an estimated 229 million cases of malaria and 409 000 deaths of which 94% of the cases were reported from Africa (WHO, 2020). In Ethiopia, even though there has been steady progress in the reduction of malaria (Deribew *et al.*, 2017; Taffese *et al.*, 2018; WHO, 2020) 1.5 million cases of malaria were reported in 2019 (WHO, 2020).

The genus *Anopheles* mosquito is the most studied genera among medically important insects. Of the total 465 *Anopheles* species globally listed, about 70 species are known to transmit human malaria (Sinka *et al.*, 2012). Forty one *Anopheles* mosquito species are actively involved in the transmission of human *Plasmodium* parasites, of which about 20 species are the dominant vectors transmitting malaria at a level of main concern to public health in Africa (Sinka *et al.*, 2012). The major malaria vectors in Africa include *An. gambiae s.l., An. funestus, An. nili, An. pharoensis* and *An. moucheti* (Sinka *et al.*, 2011; Sinka *et al.*, 2012).

In Ethiopia, there are more than 45 documented species of *Anopheles* mosquitoes (Gaffigan *et al.*, 2018) of which *Anopheles arabiensis*, *An. funestus*, *An. pharoensis* and *An. nili* are recognized malaria vectors. *Anopheles arabiensis* is the primary malaria vector in Ethiopia (Abeku *et al.*, 2003) while, *An. funestus*, *An. pharoensis* and *An. nili* are secondary vectors occurring with varying densities, limited distribution and vector competence (White, 1982; FMoH, 2014). Very recently a new invasive *Anopheles* species, *An. stephensi*, has been documented in the country (Carter *et al.*, 2018) which might complicate the malaria elimination effort of the country.

Anopheles mosquitoes undergo egg, larval, pupal and adult stages in their lifetime. The egg, larval and pupal stages are limited to water bodies and have very small spatial dispersion. The level of mosquito breeding activities is significantly higher in the rainy than dry season (Mahgoub *et al.*, 2017). In dry seasons, the number and size of larval habitats is generally believed to reduce significantly and contribute to a low population of malaria transmitting adult

Anopheles mosquitoes (Himeidan et al., 2009). Even though, Anopheles species exploit a variety of breeding habitats that vary considerably in size, altitude, vegetation cover and topography (Minakawa et al., 2012), the majority of vectors may emerge from prolific habitats, which could account only for a small proportion of the habitats. Small sized breeding habitats have many advantages over larger permanent breeding sites that increase the developmental rate or survival probability of the aquatic stage (Gu et al., 2008). Therefore, mosquito larval habitat ecology is important in determining larval densities, the relative importance of breeding habitats and species assemblage as well as designing mosquito control programs(Overgaard et al., 2002; Simisek, 2004).

Indoor residual spraying (IRS) and long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs) are the main pillars of the malaria vector control strategy in Ethiopia. In the last decade, the contribution of both IRS and LLINs significantly reduced malaria incidence and prevalence in the country (Girum et al., 2019; Taffese et al., 2018; WHO, 2020). However, the wide spread of insecticide resistance in the major malaria vector, An. arabiensis (Alemayehu et al., 2017; Messenger et al., 2017; Yewhalaw et al., 2010) would compromise the effort of malaria vector control strategy with these interventions. Moreover, the change in feeding, biting and resting behavior of An. arabiensis contributed for the existing malaria transmission in the country despite intensified malaria intervention, the scale up of IRS, high coverage of LLINs and improved malaria diagnosis and treatment (Degefa et al., 2015; Kenea et al., 2016; Yohannes & Boelee, 2012). Therefore, besides targeting adult *Anopheles* populations by the current malaria vector control interventions, it is equally important to control the immature stages of Anopheles mosquitoes with appropriate larval control strategies. Different intervention targeting larvae of Anopheles mosquitoes successfully suppressed malaria vector density and the risk of malaria infection in some African countries including Ethiopia (Castro et al., 2009; Kibret et al., 2018; Utzinger et al., 2001; Wamae et al., 2010; Yohannes et al., 2005).

In Ethiopia, there are few studies conducted to assess the habitat of mosquito larvae and some of the environmental factors that affect mosquito abundance in designing optimal vector control strategies (Dejenie *et al.*, 2011; Getachew *et al.*, 2020; Hawaria *et al.*, 2020; Mereta *et al.*, 2013). However, to our knowledge, there is no study conducted in Bambasi Woreda, one of the malaria sentinel sites in Ethiopia, to characterize and assess larval habitats of *Anopheles* mosquitoes.

Hence, this study aimed to determine the larval composition of *Anopheles* mosquitoes in different breeding habitat and assess the effect of the environmental and physicochemical parameters of the breeding habitats.

# 1.2. Statement of the problem

Benishangul-Gumuz Region is one of such area in Ethiopia where the threat due to malaria infection is so high. In Benishangul-Gumuz Region few studies reported the prevalence, surveillance, transmission and control methods of malaria (Alemayehu *et al.*, 2017; Legesse *et al.*, 2007; Seid & Yaregal , 2019; PIM, 2020). These indicate that there is a gap of information about environmental factors associated with the occurrence and abundance of *Anopheles* larvae that can help in designing optimal vector control strategies. According to the annual report Bambasi Woreda, most of the diseases affecting the people of the Woreda are by the case of malaria. This could be associated with the availability of mosquito breeding sites and suitable climatic conditions for the survival of *Anopheles* mosquitoes. Larval control could be cost-effective strategy for integrated vector management if productive larval habitats are identified and when their distribution is limited to specific areas. The larval habitats and the physicochemical parameters that influence *Anopheles* mosquitoes in their breeding habitats on Bambasi Woreda not yet studied. Therefore, this aimed to characterize *Anopheles* mosquito in Bambasi Woreda, Northwestern Ethiopia.

# **1.3.** Objectives of the study

## 1.3.1. General objective

• To characterize and assess larval habitats, distribution, and species composition of *Anopheles* mosquitoes in Bambasi Woreda, Northwestern Ethiopia.

# **1.3.2.** Specific objectives

- To identify breeding sites of anopheline mosquitoes in the study area
- To determine the species composition and abundance of *Anopheles* mosquitoes
- To characterize physical characteristics of larval breeding habitats
- To assess water quality parameters (water temperature, TDS, dissolved oxygen, electric conductivity, and salinity) of breeding sites

#### **1.4. Significance of the study**

The present study will provide information on mosquitoes in terms of distribution, breeding sites, to detect the water quality status of each breeding habitat and species composition of *Anopheles* mosquitoes in Bambasi Woreda. Identification of *Anopheles* malaria vectors is essential for the identification of areas that are at risk of malaria and for the formulation of strategies for effective control. Information on the spatial distribution of *Anopheles* vectors will facilitate the targeting of the prolific larval habitats thereby improving the preciseness of the control strategies and population structure which are essential for control measures distribution in Bambasi. Knowledge of the ecological characteristics of the breeding habitats and the environmental factors affecting mosquito abundance can help in designing optimal vector control strategies.

# **CHAPTER TWO**

# 2. Literature review

## 2.1. Malaria vectors

Anopheles mosquitoes in Africa consist of two groups that have been incriminated in malaria transmission. These two broad groups include *An. gambiae s.l.* complex group and *An. funestus* group (Coetzee, 2004). The *An. gambiae s.l.* complex consists of morphologically indistinguishable sibling species namely *An. gambiae s.l.*, *An. arabiensis, An. bwambae, An. merus, An. melas, An. quadriannulatus* species A and B (Coetzee *et al.,* 2000). Two species within the complex namely *An. gambiae s.l.* and *An. arabiensis* are responsible for malaria transmission in Africa (Coetzee *et al.,* 2000). *An. funestus* group on the other hand consists of *An. funestus Giles, An. rivulorum, An. parensis Gillies, An. brucei Service* and *An. leesoni Evans* (Gillies & Coetzee, 1987). *An. funestus* group involved in malaria transmission (Cohuet *et al.,* 2004). In sub-Saharan Africa, *Plasmodium falciparum* is mainly transmitted by *An. gambiae s.l.* and *An. funestus* species as the world most important vector of *Plasmodium falciparum* followed by *An. arabiensis* (Fanello *et al.,* 2003).

Within the group of *Anopheles* mosquitoes, there are several sibling species that have more or less significance in regards to the transmission of malaria (Becker *et al.*, 2010). The major *Anopheles* species transmitting human malaria in Ethiopia consists of *An. Arabiensis, An. pharaoensis, An. nili* and *An. funestus* (WHO, 2014). The capability of mosquitoes to function as disease vectors is characterized by variables such as life expectancy, density and competence. The latter variable includes behavioural, biochemical and environmental factors, which may in return have an impact on the connection between a vector, the pathogen transmitted by the vector and the vertebrate host being infected (Okwa *et al.*, 2007). *An. pharaoensis* have been shown to have similar behaviour and suggests that a malaria control measure such as using insecticide-treated mosquito nets as a malaria control measure is less effective (Kibret *et al.*, 2010).

#### 2.2. Life cycle of *Anopheles* mosquitoes

Anopheles mosquitoes develop through four stages of life cycle; egg, larva, pupa, and adult. The first three stages are mainly aquatic and the cycle from egg to adult stage may last for 5-14 days but this is dependent on species, humidity and ambient temperature (Clement, 1992). In tropical climates, development is rapid and therefore the egg-adult cycle may be completed in 6 days (Gillies & De Meillon, 1968). After emergence, the adult mosquito takes at least one day to reach sexual maturity. The adult stage is when the female Anopheles mosquito acts as a vector and is capable of transmitting malaria parasites. They are highly anthropophilic and females take more than 90% of their blood meal from human hosts. Blood is needed for egg development which takes about two days (Clement, 1992). After mating and blood feeding, a gravid female mosquito lays about 50-500 eggs the second day after blood feeding (Clement, 1992). Eggs hatch into larvae approximately two days after oviposition and this is largely dependent on ambient temperature and humidity (Clement, 2000). Larvae spend most of their time feeding on algae, bacteria and other micro-organisms in the surface micro layer of water. It takes less than seven days to develop through four larval instars. Duration of the larval stage is however influenced by environmental temperature and availability of food (Gillies & De Meillon, 1968). The pupal stage duration varies from 1-3 days to develop into adult and this also depends on the environmental conditions such as ambient temperature and humidity which may affect duration in this developmental stage. Pupae are also visible upon the surface of the breeding site. After a mosquito is fully developed, it will emerge as an adult from its pupal case. At this time, the new adult stands upon the water and dries its wings to prepare for flight.

#### 2.3. Mosquito breeding habitats

Mosquitoes breed in permanent or any temporary body of water that is present for more than a week. The positive breeding habitats and their quantitative characters (water depth) and qualitative characters (natural or artificial, permanent or temporary, shady or lighted, water movement, vegetation condition and turbidity), determines presence or absence of different mosquitoes species (Rueda *et al.*, 2006). Relatively few mosquito species actually breed in permanent bodies of water such as marshes or swamps and most of the mosquito species associated with marshes or swamps actually breed in temporary pools along the margins of these habitats (Pemola Devi & Jauhari, 2005). From the present study most mosquito species actually

breed in temporary bodies of water such as swamp, drainage ditch and stagnant water. Both quantitative and qualitative characters of the mosquito breeding habitats have contributed to understanding requirements of different larval species of mosquitoes. The choice of oviposition sites of mosquitoes is influenced by myriad environmental factors, which include climatic components such as temperature, rainfall, vegetation, salinity and turbidity of the water, the size of the habitat, and the amount of sunlight (Rejmankova *et al.*, 2013).

All the existing 3,000 species of mosquitoes spend part of their life cycle in water (Metzger, 2004). They can breed in virtually any natural or man-made deposit of water, some live and breed deep below the earth in mines, some have been found on top of mountains, others in highly turbid water. *An. gambiae s.l.* is known to proliferate in small temporary rain-dependent water body. From the present study temporary water body was suitable for *An. gambiae s.l. An. funestus* prefer large, permanent or semi-permanent water which contain plants. It increases malaria transmission and is also dominant during the dry season when the population of *An. gambiae s.l.* and *An. arabiensis* are low (Gillies & De Meillon, 1968).

Typical habitats of *An. arabiensis* and *An. gambiae s.l.* are puddles, shallow ponds, tyre tracks, ditches, human foot and animal hoof prints and are often created by activities of humans or domestic animals (Fillinger *et al.*, 2004). These habitats are open, containing no, little or low aquatic vegetation and are often of a transient nature, as their availability corresponds to precipitation. *An. gambiae s.l.* can colonize a breeding habitat within a few days after the site is created. Besides in temporary habitats, *An. arabiensis* is also found in market garden wells and water storage tanks.

#### 2.4. Anopheles ecology and malaria epidemiology in Ethiopia

Malaria epidemiology is driven by temporal and spatial patterns of vector species of *Anopheles* mosquitoes (Shililu *et al.*, 2003). Temporal and spatial variations in vector ecology across Africa affect the transmission risk and epidemiology of malaria and interventions will have to adopt an approach that allows for the consideration of ecological factors that affect the force of transmission in different geographical zones (Sattler *et al.*, 2005). In Ethiopia, malaria transmission varies widely with Ethiopia diverse topography and associated rainfall patterns. About 75% of the landmass is potentially malarious and about two thirds of the population over 40 million people are at risk of infection (Ghebreyesus *et al.*, 2006).

The distribution of humans and *Anopheles* mosquitoes is not continuous across the country, but generally clustered on high elevation areas where rainfall is abundant (Nyanjom *et al.*, 2003). The disease has contributed to the overcrowding of population to highland areas of the country resulting in destruction of the ecology, reduced productivity and hence famine and poverty. In endemic areas, peak transmission periods coincide with the planting and harvesting seasons reducing productive capacity of agricultural work.

The distribution of mosquito larvae and adult vectors is generally determined by the oviposition sites selected by females. For example, the local dispersal of *An. gambiae s.l.* could be driven by the search for oviposition sites and increased adult dispersal caused by females searching for a suitable breeding site. This may facilitate the spread of malaria parasites (ICIPE, 2003). Direct observation of mosquito oviposition in nature is not feasible because of the untraceable movement, nocturnal activity and tiny size of mosquitoes. However, indirect methods such as genetic approaches can be useful tools for the study of mosquito oviposition behavior (Chen *et al.*, 2006).

## 2.5. Effect of biotic and abiotic factors on larval mosquito population

# 2.5.1. Environmental Factors

The limiting factors in mosquito breeding are the longevity of the aquatic habitat and the duration of the mosquito species lifecycle (Edillo *et al.*, 2002). In a breeding habitat, biotic factors such as predation and availability of food resources also determine the population of mosquito larvae (Mahesh & Jauhari, 2002). However, the authors also reported that weeds, debris, emergent grasses or some sort of aquatic vegetation shelters the mosquito larvae from fish and other predators thus largely contributing to larval population in breeding habitat.

Other biotic factors that may affect the survival and development of anopheline mosquito larvae at their breeding sites include presence or absence of algae, presence or absence of aquatic vegetation, presence or absence of predators, parasites, pathogens or cannibalism and other interactions between species (Gimnig *et al.*, 2001; Koenraadt & Takken, 2003; Paaijmans *et al.*, 2007).

Turbid water is preferred by mosquitoes over clear water (Paaijmans, 2008). However, Paaijmans *et al.* (2008) found that the sites with relatively clear water produced more *An*.

*Arabiensis* is pupae and larger adults than habitats with turbid water. Larvae of *An. gambiae s.l.* are found in both clear and turbid water (Paaijmans *et al.*, 2008). However, from the present study, *Anopheles* larvae were collected from turbid water bodies. *An. gambiae s.l.* are seen to breed more prolifically in temporary and turbid water bodies, such as ones formed by rain while, in contrast, *An. funestus* prefers more permanent water bodies. A previous study in western Kenya reported that *An. funestus* prefers to oviposit in large semi-permanent water bodies containing aquatic vegetation and algae (Gimnig *et al.*, 2001). A study by Teklu *et al.* (2010) reported that the *An. gambiae s.l.* to exist in greater quantity in slightly turbid aquatic habitat than in turbid aquatic habitat. Also from the present study some *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae were collected from a slightly turbid water body.

#### 2.5.2. Physicochemical parameters

Physicochemical parameters, composed of physical components such as conductivity, temperature, dissolved oxygen and TDS are water associated characteristics that have specific effects on the quality and biological components of the water. The development and survival of the mosquito larvae in their habitats are affected by several physicochemical factors such as optimum temperature, range of pH and the concentrations of sulphate, ammonia and nitrate (Oyewole *et al.*, 2009). The occurrence and abundance of *Anopheles* larvae is closely associated with physicochemical parameters. The importance of many chemical substances dissolved in the breeding water of *Anopheles* larvae is still uncertain. However, a few chemicals may combine to limit the breeding of mosquitoes such as dissolved gases and organic pollution, salinity and hydrogen ion concentration (Grillet, 2000).

Temperature has a major effect on several biological processes and physicochemical properties in the natural aquatic environments. It has a magnitude of influence on the rate of photosynthesis by aquatic photosynthetic organisms, amount of dissolved oxygen and the rates of metabolism by aquatic organisms. It also influences the activities of parasites, pathology of diseases, irritability of organisms to toxic wastes and other behavioral activities such as aestivation, migration and periods of reproduction of aquatic organisms (Arroyo Seco Foundation, 2013).

Electrical Conductivity is the property of water that measures the waters ability to conduct electrical currents. EC is dependent on the amount of dissolved ions in the water body and therefore varies with the source of the water such as municipal wastewater and water drained

from agricultural farms, rainfall and groundwater. EC is related to and correlated with the organic compounds and the concentration of total dissolved solids within an aquatic environment. However, EC is regulated by temperature which has a large effect on conductivity.

Dissolved Oxygen is the amount of oxygen dissolved in a water body through the process of diffusion of oxygen from the ambient air, high velocity of the water and also as a by-product of photosynthesis. Characteristically, the solubility of DO in natural surface aquatic environments ranges from 1.5 mg/L to 8 mg/L. Oxygen tensions which can be lethal to mosquito larvae are often associated with breeding habitats with vegetation and therefore most mosquito species prefer open sunlight pools or habitats (Tiimub *et al.*, 2012).

The survivability and growth of many aquatic organisms is dependent on the presence of oxygen. Therefore, the absence of oxygen in any aquatic habitat may result in the destruction of mosquito eggs or larvae, death of adults, stunt growth and change in biota (Arroyo Seco Foundation, 2013). A wide spread study on the egg laying preference of mosquito species to aquatic habitats with different levels of DO and salts shows that, on the average, *Anopheles, Culex* and *Aedes* prefer DO of 6.6, 2.1 and 6.2 ppm respectively. However, the general tolerable DO required by most mosquito species is 4 ppm or less (Owusu, 2016).

TDS is the sum total of all the substances such as mineral sources, dissolved in a water body. Due to the enormous amount of dissolved salts in natural water, salinity is measured for as TDS content in the water. TDS is primarily composed of potassium, nitrates, phosphates, manganese, carbonates, chlorides, iron, sodium, calcium, sulphates and a few others, but specifically not of gases, sediments or colloids (Amankona, 2010). High concentrations of the constituents of TDS in any water body has some regulatory effects such as reducing the utility and solubility of gases like oxygen, the water density and the osmoregulation of organisms in freshwater.

#### 2.6. Malaria vector control

Vector control is a cornerstone of malaria control and it remains the most generally effective measure to prevent malaria transmission and therefore is one of the strategic approaches to malaria control (Scott & Morrison, 2010). The objectives of malaria vector control are two-fold; to protect individual people against infective malaria mosquito bites, and to reduce the intensity of local malaria transmission at community level by reducing the longevity, density and human-vector contact of the local vector mosquito population. The three major control measures are reducing human vector contact, adult mosquito control and larval control.

Larval control is indicated as the sole method of vector control only if a high proportion of the anopheline breeding sites within the vectors flight range of the community to be protected are few, fixed, findable, and manageable (WHO, 2012). Larval control may be also undertaken to supplement the effects of the core vector control interventions (LLIN and IRS). LSM is the management of aquatic habitats (water bodies) that are potential larval habitats for mosquitoes, in order to prevent the completion of immature stages of mosquito development, the egg, larvae and pupae. There are four categories of LSM, which are habitat modification, habitat manipulation, biological control and larviciding.

Before a larval control intervention can be implemented, the majority of the vector larvae productive breeding sites must be identified (Elimam *et al.*, 2009). If the number of breeding sites is extremely large or many sites are inaccessible or ephemeral, larval control may not be feasible. One advantage of targeting larvae is that they cannot escape from their breeding sites until the adult stage and unlike adult mosquitoes, cannot easily avoid control measures (Killeen *et al.*, 2002). Larval control may be particularly valuable in regions where the primary malaria vector is exophilic or bites before people are in bed, making indoor residual spraying and impregnated bed nets less effective, as in parts of Eritrea (Shililu *et al.*, 2004). In order to be able to design and implement control measures directed to the larva stages such as larva source reduction and larviciding, an understanding of the spatial and temporal distribution of malaria mosquito larva and its determinants in different malaria transmission settings is important (Maheu-Giroux & Castro, 2014).

# **CHAPTER THREE**

# **3. Materials and Methods**

#### 3.1. Description of the study area

Bambasi Woreda is located in Assosa Zone, Benishangul-Gumuz Regional State, Northwestern Ethiopia. Assosa town is the capital of the Assosa Woreda and Benishangul-Gumuz Regional State (BGR), which is located about 600 kilometers West of Addis Ababa. Bambasi town is 45 kilometers East of Assosa town. The study was conducted in three Kebeles namely Keshmando, Amba 46 and Amba 47 (Fig.1). Amba 46 and Amba 47 are located in agricultural fields whereas, Keshmando is mainly a human settlement. Keshmando Kebele is located at 9°36.257′N and 34°41.2008′E geographical coordinates and elevation of 1399 meters above sea level (masl). Amba 46 Kebele is located at 9°50.88′N and 34°41.316′E geographical coordinates and elevation of 1423 meters above sea level (masl).



Figure 3.1: Map of study area

#### **3.2.** Mosquito larval sampling

Cross-sectional larval survey was conducted on three Kebeles in Bambasi. Mosquito larvae were sampled twice a month from September 2020 up to November 2020 during after long rainy season. Different breeding habitat types were visited and examined for Anopheles larvae species productivity. Larval collections were carried out in a variety of aquatic habitats in the study area. Three breeding sites were identified due to the limitation of the palintest instrument used to measure water quality parameters. This instrument was received from Jimma University for five days, from this day four days were spent on the way; I was used only one day. Due to this limitation, only three breeding sites were visited. During each survey, a habitat was first inspected for the presence of mosquito larvae and then larvae were collected using a standard dipper. From each larval habitat, about 20 dips were taken at intervals along the edge of each larval habitat. Sampling was always done by the same individual in the morning (10:00-12:00 hours) or afternoon (2:00-4:00 hours) for about thirty minutes or less at each larval habitat. Anopheles larvae were sorted from *Culicine* and transferred to a white tray. Larvae were then searched and identified in the tray by simple visual observation. The larvae below or on the surface of the water in the tray were picked by a pipette and transferred to collecting containers. From each habitat, larvae were always transferred into containers with water from the site of collection. Containers were labeled with relevant information such as date, site and number of larvae collected, and were kept in a room and allowed to rear in to adults. A room also was kept stable, at the temperature of 25°C-27°C and 70±10% relative humidity. Larvae were fed with brewery yeast. Feeding was done once per day. Larvae get sunlight twice a day for maximum 30 minutes. Then pupae were collected and transferred into a beaker, placed in cage adults to emerge.





Plate 1: *Anopheles* larval collection from different breeding sites (A) drainage ditch, (B) swamp and (C) stagnant water.



Plate 2: The experimental set up

# 3.3. Identification of adult Anopheles mosquitoes

Adult *Anopheles* mosquitoes were provided 10% sugar solution with imbibed cotton. Adult mosquitoes were picked from the cage by using an aspirator and transferred into cup covered by a net and were killed by Chloroform. Adult mosquitoes were morphologically identified to the species under a light microscope using standard taxonomic key (Coetzee, 2020; Gillies & Coetzee, 1987) in Biology laboratory, Assosa University, Assosa. Afterwards they were individually preserved in silica gel in well-labeled Eppendorf tubes and transported to Jimma University for re-identification.



Plate 3: Identification, preserving and labeling of Anopheles mosquitoes

# 3.4. Larval habitat characterization

Characterization of a larval habitat required data from both environmental and physicochemical variables. Environmental and physicochemical characteristics of each larval habitat were observed, measured and recorded during the larval collection. The environmental variables including intensity of light, origin of habitats, water current, presence/absence of vegetation and

algae, substrate type, turbidity and permanence of the habitats were observed and recorded during the study. The physicochemical variables were measured and recorded during the larval collection were; salinity, dissolved oxygen, conductivity, total solid dissolved and water temperature.

For each habitat identified, algal coverage was recorded as being present or absent based on visual observation. The proportion of the water surface covered by vegetation was estimated visually and expressed as presence or absence of vegetation. Turbidity was observed by placing the water in a clear glass container and placing it against a white background and recorded as either slightly turbid or turbid (Minakawa *et al.*, 1999; Shililu *et al.*, 2003). The substrate type was categorized as mud, stone if the pool was lined with stones that were large in size (rocks generally larger than 10 cm in diameter) and gravel when the stones were small in size but larger than sand. The proportion of the water surface exposed to sunlight was estimated visually by assessing the proportion of the water surface shadowed at midday (Sattler *et al.*, 2005). Light intensity was visually categorized as full sunlight if the habitat received full sunlight that could occur throughout the day; however, if the habitat received partial sunlight, the habitat was described as partial sunlight. Water current was categorized as still or flow. Habitats were categorized as artificial or natural.

The physicochemical variables were measured on-site during collection by using palintest (micro 800) instrument. The machine automatically measured salinity, temperature, dissolved oxygen, total dissolved solids and conductivity only by one probe. After the instrument was configured, the probe was placed in the water for one to two minutes after which it displayed the results of the readings on the screen and recorded.

17



Plate 4: Measurement of water quality of larval breeding sites

# 3.5. Data analysis

Anopheles mosquito species composition, spatial distribution and mean larval density difference among the study area were entered into excel computer program and analyzed using SPSS version 20 statistical software. Percentile scores were used to compare the frequency of occurrence and abundance of *Anopheles* larvae among habitat types and distribution of their species within the habitats. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine if there was a significant difference among and between the groups at the significance level of 0.05%. Variations in larval counts (mean densities) among habitat types and variations in mean densities of the collected larvae among environmental factors (characteristics) of the larval habitats were analyzed. Water physicochemical parameters were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Larval density in all breeding habitats and study villages was calculated as *Anopheles* mosquito larvae per dip (Sattler *et al.*, 2005). ). In all cases P values < 0.05 were considered significant.

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

# 4. Results

## 4.1. Species composition of Anopheles mosquitoes

A total of 2185 larvae *Anopheles* mosquitoes were collected from three aquatic habitats during the study period of which 595, 765 and 823 were collected from Keshmando, Amba 46 and Amba 47 respectively. The total numbers of *Anopheles* mosquitoes larvae collected in Amba 47 were significantly higher than *Anopheles* mosquitoes larvae collected from the other two sites (P < 0.05).



Figure 4.1: Abundance of *Anopheles* larvae collected from different localities during the study period.

A total of 1786 adults emerged from larval collections. From these, three malaria species complexes were morphologically identified, namely, *An. gambiae s.l., An. funestus and An. coustani. An. gambiae s.l.* was the highest (1774) followed by *An. funestus* (11) and the least was *An. coustani* (1) (Table 4.1). *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* was found more abundantly in all study sites and breeding habitats. The highest numbers of *An. gambiae s.l. were* collected throughout the study period at Amba 47 as compared to Keshmando and Amba 46. Overall, the densities of adults of the *An. funestus* and *An. coustani* that emerged from the larval collections were low compared to *An. gambiae s.l.* 

In Keshmando, the abundance of *An. gambiae s.l.* was found to be 99.80% whereas *An. coustani* was 0.2% and there was no *An. funestus*. At Amba 46, the number of *An. gambiae s.l.* was found to be 99.5% and *An. funestus* was found as 0.5% and there was no *An. coustani*. Amba 47 was dominated by *An. gambiae s.l.* (98.85%) and *An. funestus* was found to be the next abundant 1.15% and there was no *An. coustani* observed.

When compared by sampling area, the abundance of *An. gambiae s.l.* was 27.73% at Keshmando, 33.54% at Amba 46, 38.90% at Amba 47. The abundance of *An. funestus* was 27.27% at Amba 46, 72.73% at Amba 47, and there was no *An. funestus* at Keshmando. *An. coustani* was found only at Keshmando and not present at the Amba 46 and Amba 47.

Sites	An. gambiae s.l.	An. funestus	An. coustani	Total
Keshmando	492	0	1	493
Amba 46	592	3	0	595
Amba 47	690	8	0	698
Total	1774	11	1	1786

Table 4-1: Abundance of adult Anopheles mosquitoes reared from larvae.

## 4.2. Anopheles larval productivity in different habitat types

Three habitat types (drainage ditch, swamp and stagnant water) were identified as breeding sites in the study area. *Anopheles* mosquito larvae were collected and identified from three breeding sites as shown in table 4.2. The average number of *Anopheles* larval density over the sampling period was 53.13 larvae per 20 dips. There was variation in each aquatic habitat to the larval productivity. Stagnant water was the most productive for *Anopheles* larvae with mean density of with 19.58 larvae per dip followed by swamp and drainage ditch for *Anopheles* mosquito larvae with mean density of 19.18 and 14.37 larvae per dip, respectively.

Habitat types	Months	Mean $\pm$ SE
Drainage ditch	September	8.75±0.18
Swamp	September	7.63±0.17
Stagnant water	September	9.83±0.30
Drainage ditch	October	3.37±0.24
Swamp	October	$7.50 \pm 0.52$
Stagnant water	October	5.25±0.21
Drainage ditch	November	2.55±0.22
Swamp	November	4.05±0.31
Stagnant water	November	4.50±0.17

Table 4-2: Mean monthly larval densities of Anopheles larvae of the three habitats.

#### 4.3. Abundance and distribution of Anopheles mosquitoes in breeding sites

Table 4.3 depicts the abundance and spatial distribution of *Anopheles* species in different breeding habitats during the study period. *An. gambiae s.l.* adult reared from larvae were obtained most abundantly from stagnant water (690) and swamps (592) whereas drainage ditch (492) of the total *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* adult reared from larvae during the study period. Nearly eight of the total *An. funestus* adults reared from larvae were obtained from stagnant water and three *An. funestus* adult reared from larvae were sampled from swamp. *Anopheles coustani* was the only species found in drainage ditch and generally absent from other two habitat types. Stagnant water and swamps were the most productive aquatic habitats for the anopheline larvae sampled in the present study.

Expressed as number of larvae per number of dips of sampling, the relative abundance of anopheline species in the different larval habitats was also significantly variable. For example, comparing the abundance of *Anopheles* species that were sampled from the different habitat types revealed that *An. gambiae s.l.* were the most abundant species in stagnant water (p<0.05).

Anopheles	Drainage	Swamp	Stagnant water	Total
spp.	ditch			
An. gambiae	492	592	690	1774
<i>s.l</i> .				
An. funestus	0	3	8	11
An. coustani	1	0	0	1
Total	493	595	698	1786

Table 4-3: Breeding sites and Anopheles species.

#### 4.4. Distribution of *Anopheles* larvae density during the months of study

In the first month (September) Amba 47 was found to have the highest number of larvae per dip followed by Keshmando. Keshmando was found to be the lowest of the three areas in larval density per dip. In October Amba 46 was found to be the highest in larval density per dip followed by Amba 47. The lowest larval density per dip was observed at Keshmando Kebele in October. Amba 47 was found to be highest in larval density per dip, and Amba 46 was the second when the larval density per dip was compared.

When sampling area was compared by month Keshmando area was found to be highest in September followed by October, and November was the lowest in larval density per dip. September was the month that was found to contain the highest number of larvae per dip followed by October, and the lowest larval density was observed in November month from Keshmando. At Amba 47 in September, there was the highest number of larvae per dip, followed by October and November.

Local sites		Months	
	September	October	November
Keshmando	8.75 <sup>Ab</sup>	3.37 <sup>Bc</sup>	2.55 <sup>Cc</sup>
Amba 46	7.63 <sup>Ac</sup>	$7.50^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	4.05 <sup>Cb</sup>
Amba 47	9.83 <sup>Aa</sup>	5.25 <sup>Bb</sup>	4.50 <sup>Ca</sup>

Table 4-4: Comparison of mean larval density of Anopheles by area and month

\*Means followed by different superscripts (lowercase) in the same column are significantly different at (p<0.05).

\*Means followed by different superscripts (uppercase) across the row are significantly different at (p<0.05).

# 4.5. Monthly distribution of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae

The highest abundance of *An. gambiae s.l.* (n=828) were recorded in September, while lowest (n=380) *An. gambiae s.l.* were recorded in November. However, highest *An. funestus* were recorded in November and *An. funestus* and *An. coustani* accounting 11 and 1 respectively.

In September, there was only *An. gambiae s.l.* and the two species were not observed. In October 99.15% was *An. gambiae s.l.* and 0.85% was *An. coustani* and there was no *An. funestus* observed. In November there was only *An. gambiae s.l.* and there were no *An. funestus* and *An. coustani*.

Table 4-5: Monthly	y distributions of	of Anoph	heles species	adults reared	from lar	vae in K	eshmando.
--------------------	--------------------	----------	---------------	---------------	----------	----------	-----------

Anopheles species	September	October	November	Total
An. gambiae s.l.	280	116	96	492
An. funestus	0	0	0	0
An. coustani	0	1	0	1
Total	280	117	96	493

In September there was only *An. gambiae s.l.* observed at this local site. In October there was only *An. gambiae s.l.* observed. In November 97.62% was *An. gambiae s.l.* and 2.38% was *An. funestus*, and there was no *An. coustani*.

Anopheles species	September	October	November	Total
An. gambiae s.l.	220	249	123	592
An. funestus	0	0	3	3
An. coustani	0	0	0	0
Total	220	249	126	595

Table 4-6: Monthly distributions of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae in Amba 46.

In September there was only *An. gambiae s.l.* observed at this local site. In October 98.53% was *An. gambiae s.l.*, 1.47% was *An. funestus*, and there was no *An. coustani*. In November 96.99% was *An. gambiae s.l.*, 3.01% was *An. funestus*, and there was no *An. coustani* observed in this month at this local site.

Table 4-7: Monthly distributions of Anopheles species adults reared from larvae in Amba 47.

Anopheles species	September	October	November	Total
An. gambiae s.l.	328	201	161	690
An. funestus	0	3	5	8
An. coustani	0	0	0	0
Total	328	204	166	698

#### 4.6. Relative monthly contribution of the aquatic habitats to anopheline larval production

The relative monthly contribution of the different larval habitats to anopheline larval production over the study period is shown in Table 4-8. Larval production occurred during all months all over the study period in all the study sites. The results of the monthly larval collection showed that the varied densities of the anopheline larvae vary markedly with the minimum in November and maximum in September. In Amba 47, maximum anopheline larval was collected in September with its minimum in November, while in Amba 46 Kebele, the maximum larval occurred in September with its minimum in November. In Keshmando and Amba 47 Kebele, the highest numbers of anopheline larvae were sampled in September.

When compared by local sites, in Keshmando, 58.82% was found in September, 22.69% was found in October, and 18.49% was found in November out of the total number of larvae. At

Amba 46, 39.77% was found in September, 39.11% was found in October and 21.12% was found in November out of the total number of larvae. At Amba 47, 47.75% was found in September, 30.38% was found in October, and 21.87% was found in November out of the total number of larvae in this area.

Local sites	Habitat types	September	October	November	Total
Keshmando	Drainage ditch	350	135	110	595
Amba 46	Swamp	305	300	162	767
Amba 47	Stagnant water	393	250	180	823
Total		1048	685	452	2185

Table 4-8: Monthly contribution of the different larval habitats to anopheline larval production.

# 4.7. Physical characteristics of larval habitat and distribution of Anopheles larvae

Physical habitat characteristics and abundance of *Anopheles* species in each breeding site are depicted in table 4.9. All of the observed breeding sites were found to be still, temporary and with vegetation and algae. *An. gambiae s.l.* was greater in larval density in turbid and natural habitats than that of slightly turbid and artificial habitat. Also, *An. gambiae s.l.* was greater in larval density in habitats with full sunlight and mud than that of partial sunlight and mud with little gravel habitat. This species preferred temporary, still and turbid water with full sunlight and mud substrates. *An. funestus* were greater in turbid and full sunlight. Similarly, *An. funestus* obtained from temporary and natural habitats that had mud and still water, temporary, partial sunlight, presences of vegetation and algae, still, mud with little gravel and artificial habitats. *Anopheles coustani* was absent from habitats natural and muddy substrate types.

Overall, three habitats were observed. The drainage ditch located nearest to the house was turbid. They contain a lot of debris from vegetation and plants. They were formed by road construction. They were temporary because dried up during the dry season. Habitats were partial sunlight there were large plants at the edge of habitats. Others were mud with little gravel, still and human-made habitats. From these habitats, 27.61% of the total *Anopheles* species was obtained. Swamp and stagnant water were located in farmlands. They were natural and still habitats. Others were

completely exposed to sunlight. Swamp was slightly turbid water. However, stagnant water was turbid because they contain mud and other organic debris. There was a lot of vegetation and algae. Breeding sites were temporary because they dried off during the dry season. In swamp 33.31% of the total *Anopheles* species and stagnant water 39.08% of the total *Anopheles* species was obtained. Temporary and natural habitats with still and turbid water in full sunlight were the most productive breeding sites for the *An. gambiae s.l.* 

Habitat characteristics		No. of	Number of Anopheles species		
		habitats			
Characteristics	Variables		An. gambiae s.l.	An. funestus	An. coustani
Turbidity	Turbid	2	1182	8	1
	Slightly turbid	1	592	3	0
Permanence	Temporary	3	1774	11	1
	Permanent	0	0	0	0
Light intensity	Full sunlight	2	1282	11	0
	Partial sunlight	1	492	0	1
Vegetation & Algae	Absent	0	0	0	0
	Present	3	1774	11	1
Water current	Still	3	1774	11	1
	Flow	0	0	0	0
Substrate type	Mud	2	1282	11	0
	Mud with little	1	492	0	1
	gravel				
Origin of habitat	Natural	2	1282	11	0
	Artificial	1	492	0	1

 Table 4-9: Physical habitat characteristics and abundance of Anopheles species in the three

 breeding sites.

# 4.8. Physicochemical characteristics of the habitats

Table 4.10 shows the physicochemical parameters for each of the three different habitats. The three sampling sites vary in levels of physicochemical characteristics. The findings showed that dissolved oxygen (DO) was highest  $(7.07\pm0.55\text{mg/L})$  in swamp and lowest  $(0.32\pm0.04 \text{ mg/L})$  in drainage ditch. Conductivity levels across different habitats showed wide variations,  $18.46\pm0.05\mu\text{S/cm}$  for drainage ditch and  $(14.13\pm1.98\mu\text{S/cm})$  for swamp. Stagnant water also recorded  $(12.73\pm0.75\mu\text{S/cm})$ . There were slight variations in temperature between different habitats. Drainage ditch recorded high level of TDS  $12.19\pm0.26\text{mg/L}$ ; whereas swamp recorded low level of TDS  $9.49\pm1.62 \text{ mg/L}$ . Drainage ditch and stagnant water recorded slight salinity of  $5.54\pm1.00\text{PSU}$  and  $3.30\pm0.97 \text{PSU}$  respectively.

Table 4-10: The Mean  $\pm$  SD of physicochemical parameters of larval habitat.

Area	Temp. (°C)	TDS(mg/L)	DO(mg/L)	EC(µS/cm)	Salinity(PSU)
Drainage ditch	29.45±0.93	12.19±0.26	0.32±0.04	18.46±0.05	5.54±1.00
Swamp	29.08±1.36	9.49 <u>±</u> 1.62	7.07 <u>±</u> 0.55	14.13 <u>±</u> 1.98	1.22 <u>+</u> 1.05
Stagnant water	29.35±0.98	6.05±1.45	3.27±0.12	12.73±0.75	3.30±0.97

# **CHAPTER FIVE**

# **5.** Discussions

Of more than forty known species and subspecies of *Anopheles* mosquitoes in Ethiopia (Gaffigan *et al.*, 2018), three of them were documented in the present study. These species were *An. gambiae s.l., An. funestus* and *An. coustani*. The most abundant species was *An. gambiae s.l.* while few *An. funestus* and *An. coustani* were recorded. These differences in larval *Anopheles* species abundance could probably be due to abundance and size of the breeding habitats, as well as there are also larvae that did not reach the adult stage, we are not sure of those on how many are which species might be increased abundance of *Anopheles* species. Thus, the low number of *Anopheles* species might be associated with visited habitats. Unlike our findings large numbers of *An. coustani* was observed from the adult collection in Bambasi in the previous study (PMI, 2020). The variation might be due to differences in the collection, sampling period and also these species rarely feature in larval surveys of *Anopheles* species. The current study revealed differences in the abundance and distribution of *Anopheles* breeding habitats in the different species.

Anopheles larvae breed in various types of habitats, varying from large permanent to small temporary water collections (Service, 2008). Three larval habitat types were identified as breeding sites in this study, namely swamps, drainage ditch and stagnant water. Additionally, there are other types of *Anopheles* mosquitoes breeding habitats in this area that might be missed in the present study. All habitats were the most common breeding sites in the area. Hawaria and his co-authors also reported similar habitat types from Arjo-Didessa, Ethiopia (Hawaria *et al.*, 2020). In this study, in the different habitats, *Anopheles* species were collected but, the most abundant species was *An. gambiae s.l.* Stagnant water was the most preferred habitat for *Anopheles* larvae and few *Anopheles* larvae were observed in the drainage ditch. This suggests that the area Bambasi district has favorable habitats for the survival and development of *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae.

An. gambiae s.l. was the most predominant in stagnant water 690 and least abundant 492 in the drainage ditch. Variation in the occurrence and abundance of the three larval species might be the differences in the levels of physicochemical parameters among the breeding sites. Also, the suitability, stability and productivity of the larval habitat and rainfall intensity might have affected species abundance and larval habitat productivity of Anopheles mosquitoes. An. coustani were collected from an only drainage ditch. On the other hand An. funestus had its highest number in stagnant water and the lowest was collected from the swamp. This finding disagrees with, mosquitoes of the An. funestus group mainly prefers swamps (Dida et al., 2018). Habitat type also influences the abundance of An. funestus. An. funestus mainly prefer to breed permanent water bodies; this could be the reason for very rare in swamps, drainage ditch and stagnant water. The major reason for this was An. funestus larvae are associated with larger, semi-permanent bodies of water containing aquatic vegetation and algae (Gimmg et al., 2001). This study was conducted during the short rainy season but, for An. funestus dry season was favorable than the wet season. Thus, the findings of this study agree with (Umar, 2014), which reported An. gambiae s.l. was responsible for malaria transmission during the wet season while An. funestus has been confirmed to be responsible for the transmission of malaria during the dry season.

The information on physical characteristics of the breeding sites observed during the study was; turbidity, presence and absence of vegetation and algae, habitat permanence, water condition, the origin of habitat and exposure to sunlight. The larvae occur in a wide range of habitats, but most species prefer turbid water. *An. gambiae s.l.* abundance was associated with turbid water. Similarly, the previous findings reported by (Munga *et al.*, 2005; Paaijmans, 2008) suggested that *An. gambiae s.l.* exploit turbid water for oviposition. This indicates during the rainy season, *An. gambiae s.l.* favors turbid water. The other observation contradicts present findings is by (Shililu *et al.*, 2003) who found more anopheline larval densities from clear aquatic habitats. Also, *An. gambiae s.l.* was obtained from a slightly turbid habitat. A similar finding was also reported by (Teklu *et al.*, 2010). *An. gambiae s.l.* was collected from slightly turbid habitats with emergent vegetation and open sunlit conditions. Few *An. funestus* was collected, due to the habitats were turbid. This indicates *An. funestus* prefer clear waters at depths (Nambunga *et al.*, 2020).

In this study permanence of *Anopheles* larval habitat was observed. The three habitats were temporary and at the end of the study period, the three breeding habitats were dry. Highest *An.* gambiae s.l. was collected during the study. This finding agrees with the previous report that *An.* gambiae s.l. prefers temporary breeding sites (Kenea et al., 2011).

Moreover, it was observed that the characteristic substrate type for anopheline larva habitat in the study area was mud as high anopheline larvae were observed to occur in larval habitats than other substrate types of mud with little gravel. Soil may provide nutrients for the enrichment of bacteria that serve as food sources for larvae and possibly oviposition attractants. This observation is in agreement with previous reports by (Minakawa *et al.*, 1999) who found that anopheline larvae generally do not like habitats such as water tanks without soil substrates.

Vegetation was also an important predictor for *Anopheles* larvae presence and abundance. A similar finding was reported for *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae (Mwangangi *et al.*, 2007). The presence of vegetation could help the larvae to hide from their predators. Algae was a significant factor in the abundance of *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae in swamp, drainage ditch and stagnant water body; that algae favored the abundance of *An. gambiae s.l.* as it was the main source of its food. The presence of algae with anopheline larval occurrence or abundance is also similar to the finding of Gimnig and his co-workers found that algal food plays a key role in *Anopheles* habitat (Gimnig *et al.*, 2002)

Water movement in habitats was also important in species distribution. The present result showed that anopheline larvae were collected from still waters. They utilize the relatively undisturbed surface tension of still waters and are not found in moving streams. Similar findings were reported in Eritrea, which showed that still waters were the main larval habitats for anopheline mosquitoes (Shililu *et al.*, 2003). The main reason for the high abundance of anopheline larvae in still waters may be those still waters provide favorite situations in which larvae can stay close to the surface with their spiracle open to the air for breathing. Moreover, high water current and flooding are detrimental to *Anopheles* larval survival as a result of the physical harm to the larvae and reduction in their oxygen tension (Okogun, 2005).

It was noted that anopheline larval abundance was more associated with natural habitats compared to artificial habitats. This indicates environmental variables of larval water habitats

regulate the abundance of a mosquito species (Kenawy et al., 2013; Okogun et al., 2003; Paaijmans et al., 2008).

The study results indicated that various physicochemical parameters in mosquito breeding sites at various levels have some influence on mosquito vector hatchability, survival and spatial distribution. High salinity levels were recorded in drainage ditch, due to highly turbid breeding sites. High *An. gambiae s.l.* were collected in stagnant water which had low levels of salinity compared to drainage ditch habitats. This indicates high salinity influences *Anopheles* larval densities. Low salinity levels were observed in swamps, which *An. gambiae s.l.* and *An. funestus* larvae can survive in, this suggests that *An. gambiae s.l.* larvae can survive in high and low salinity of the water.

A maximum mean of EC and TDS  $18.46\pm0.05\mu$ S/cm and  $12.19\pm0.26$ mg/L respectively were recorded in the drainage ditch that might due to high turbid and high salinity recorded in this area. *Anopheles* larvae abundance was low in waters with high levels of salinity and conductivity. A similar study reported that high water conductivity due to high salinity and other dissolved ions have a negative impact on the primary production of mosquito larvae (Closs *et al.*, 2009). This finding disagrees with a study conducted in Nigeria reported that conductivity and TDS appeared to have no influence on *Anopheles* larval density (Imam & Deeni, 2014). Also, this finding disagrees with *Anopheles* larvae abundance was higher in waters with high levels of salinity and conductivity (Emidi *et al.*, 2017).

Temperature is one of the most important water quality parameters. It affects water chemistry and the functions of aquatic organisms. It influences the amount of oxygen that can be dissolved in water, the rate of photosynthesis by algae and other aquatic plants and the metabolic rates of organisms. In this study slightly varied temperatures were recorded between ranges of 29.08 °C – 29.45 °C. It was reported from Ghana that a temperature range between 30°C – 36.2°C found the most suitable conditions for the development of the *Anopheles* larval species (Opoku & Ansa-Asare, 2009). Previous studies reported that moderately high temperatures were necessary for the optimum growth of *Anopheles* larvae; they further found that high temperatures usually accelerated their growth (Minakawa *et al.*, 1999). Additionally, other studies observed that warm water also allowed more microorganisms to grow, which provide food sources for mosquito larvae (Sunahara *et al.*, 2002).

Anopheles mosquito larvae were abundantly collected from stagnant water with DO  $(3.27\pm0.12$ mg/L) which is in line with the study of (Owusu, 2016) reported as DO (3.27 mg/L) at the breeding habitats indicates a suitable breeding environment since the general tolerable DO require by most mosquito species is 4 mg/L or less. High DO record in swamp site might be due to the abundance of vegetation that increases photosynthetic activity. The DO of drainage ditch  $(0.32\pm0.04$ mg/L) in which the low number of *Anopheles* larvae collected. Low dissolved oxygen, in drainage ditch habitats, may have been caused by organic pollution resulting from high input of solid and liquid waste from households as the site is in close proximity to human habitation.

This study provides baseline information for designing future surveys and control operations targeting malaria, especially in places such as Bambasi Woreda where *An. gambiae s.l.*, play a major role in malaria transmission. This study has suggested that temporary, still, mud and turbid habitats characterized by the presence of vegetation play a major role in the ecology of *An. gambiae s.l.* Understanding the physicochemical characteristics of mosquito larval habitats is important in understanding their overall ecological needs and assessing options for habitat manipulation to control *Anopheles* mosquitoes.

# **CHAPTER SIX**

# 6. Conclusions and Recommendations

# 6.1. Conclusions

Three *Anopheles* species were identified in the study area. *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* is the most abundant species that bred in the three larval habitat types identified in the study area. The density of this species was high in temporary, turbid, mud, still, sunlight, and with vegetation and algae habitats. Each habitat in Bambasi had different physicochemical characteristics that were key determinants of the presence of *Anopheles* larvae. The abundance of the three identified mosquito species larvae was found to vary according to differential environmental and physicochemical factors which determined the quality of water of the breeding habitats. Thus, combinations of these factors might have contributed to the differential abundance of the larval mosquitoes observed at the sampling sites. Therefore, it is highly important to clearly identify the breeding sites of *Anopheles* mosquito and the contributing factors for their productivity so as to implement larval control strategies together with the current IRS and LLINs malaria vector control interventions.

# **6.2. Recommendations**

Depending on the current study the following recommendations were given;

- Further research should be included other physicochemical parameters, such as phosphate, PH, ammonia, and nitrate.
- Malaria vector control intervention strategies should target these temporary water bodies to optimize the efficacy of malaria control.
- > Future research should be observing the ecology of mosquito larval predators.
- Local communities should be educated and trained in environmental management and in searching for and identifying mosquito larvae. Since mosquito control officers are trained outside the main transmission season when many larval habitats will be dry, all larval habitats, both new and old must be found and treated during the wet seasons.

# References

- Abeku, T.A., Van Oortmarssen, G.J., Borsboom, G., de Vlas, S.J. and Habbema, J.D. (2003). Spatial and temporal variations of malaria epidemic risk in Ethiopia: factors involved and implications. *Acta Tropica*, 87(3):331–340.
- Alemayehu, E., Asale, A., Eba, K., Getahun, K., Tushune, K., Astrid, B., Evangelia, M., John, V., Thomas, V.L. and Yewhalaw, D. (2017). Mapping insecticide resistance and characterization of resistance mechanisms in *Anopheles arabiensis* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Parasites & Vectors*, **10**(1):1-11.
- Amankona, B. K. (2010). Evaluation of the microbiological and physicochemical quality of Borehole water in the Offinso District of Ashanti Region (Doctoral dissertation).
- Arroyo Seco Foundation Report (2013).Vital Signs: the Five Basic Water Quality Parameters. The Clean Water Team Guidance Compendium for Watershed Monitoring and Assessment: State Water Resources Control Board. Retrieved from: http://www.arroyoseco.org/wqparameters.htm (Accessed: March 12, 2020).
- Becker, N., Petric, D., Zgomba, M., Boase, C., Madon, M., Dahl, C. and Kaiser, A. (2010). Mosquitoes and their control. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Carter, T.E., Yared, S., Gebresilassie, A., Bonnell, V., Damodaran, L., Lopez, K., Ibrahim, M., Mohammed, S. and Janies, D. (2018). First detection of *Anopheles stephensi* Liston, 1901 (Diptera: culicidae) in Ethiopia using molecular and morphological approaches. *Acta Tropica*, 188:180-186.
- Castro, M.C., Tsuruta, A., Kanamori, S., Kannady, K. and Mkude, S. (2009). Community-based environmental management for malaria control: evidence from a small-scale intervention in Dares Salaam, Tanzania. *Malaria Journal*, **8**:57.

- Chen, H., Fillinger, U. and Yan, G. (2006). Oviposition behavior of female *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* in western Kenya inferred from microsatellite markers. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, **75**(2): 246–250.
- Clements, A. N. (1992). The biology of mosquitoes: development, nutrition and reproduction. London: Chapman & Hall. p. 509.
- Clements, A.N. (2000). The biology of mosquitoes: development, nutrition and reproduction. New York: CABI publishing. p. 536.
- Closs, G., Downes, B. and Boulton, A. (2009). Freshwater ecology: a scientific introduction. John Wiley & Sons.
- Coetzee, M. (2004). Distribution of African malaria vectors of *Anopheles gambiae* complex. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, **70**(2):103-104.
- Coetzee, M. (2020). Key to the females of Afrotropical *Anopheles* mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). *Malaria Journal*, **19**(1):1–20.
- Coetzee, M., Craig, M. and le Sueur, D. (2000). Distribution of African malaria mosquitoes belonging to *Anopheles gambiae* complex. *Parasitological Today*, **16**(2):73-77.
- Cohuet, A., Simard, F., Wondji, C. S., Antonio-Nkondjio, C., Awono-Ambene, P. and Fontenille, D. (2004). High malaria transmission intensity due to *Anopheles funestus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in a village of savannah-forest transition area in Cameroon. *Journal* of Medical Entomology, **41**(5):901-905.
- Cox, F.E. (2010). History of the discovery of the malaria parasites and their vectors. *Parasites & Vectors*, **3**(1):5.
- De Meillon, B. and Gillies, M.T. (1968). The Anophelinae of Africa south of the Sahara. Johannesburg: South African Institute for Medical Research, p.253.
- Degefa, T., Zeynudin, A., Godesso, A., Michael, Y. H., Eba, K., Zemene, E., Emana, D., Birlie, B., Tushune, K. and Yewhalaw, D. (2015). Malaria incidence and assessment of entomological indices among resettled communities in Ethiopia: A longitudinal study. *Malaria Journal*, 14(1):1–11.

- Dejenie, T., Yohannes, M. and Assmelash, T. (2011). Characterization of Mosquito Breeding Sites in and in the Vicinity of Tigray Microdams. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Sciences*, 21(1):57-66.
- Deribew, A., Dejene, T., Kebede, B., Tessema, G. A., Melaku, Y. A., Misganaw, A., Gebre, T., Hailu, A., Biadgilign, S., Amberbir, A., Yirsaw, B. D., Abajobir, A. A., Shafi, O., Abera, S. F., Negussu, N., Mengistu, B., Amare, A. T., Mulugeta, A., Mengistu, B., Amare, A. T., Mulugeta, A., Mengistu, B., Tadesse, Z., Sileshi, M., Cromwell, E., Glenn, S.D., Deribe, K. and Stanaway, J. D. (2017). Incidence, prevalence and mortality rates of malaria in Ethiopia from 1990 to 2015: Analysis of the global burden of diseases 2015. *Malaria Journal*, 16(1):1–7.
- Dida, G. O., Anyona, D. N., Abuom, P. O., Akoko, D., Adoka, S. O., Matano, A. S., Owuor, P. O. and Ouma, C. (2018). Spatial distribution and habitat characterization of mosquito species during the dry season along the Mara River and its tributaries, in Kenya and Tanzania. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty*, 7(1): 1–16.
- Edillo, F. E., Toure, Y. T., Lanzaro, G. C., Dolo, G. and Taylor, C. E. (2002). Spatial and habitat distribution of *Anopheles gambiae* and *Anopheles arabiensis* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Banambani Village, Mali. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, **39**(1):70-77.
- Elimam, A.M., Elmalik, K.H. and Ali, F.S. (2009). Larvicidal, adult emergence inhibition and oviposition deterrent effects of foliage extract from Ricinus communis L. against *Anopheles arabiensis* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* in Sudan. *Tropical Biomedicine*, **26**(2): 130–139.
- Emidi, B., Kisinza, W.N., Mmbando, B.P., Malima, R. and Mosha, F.W. (2017). Effect of physicochemical parameters on *Anopheles* and Culex mosquito larvae abundance in different breeding sites in a rural setting of Muheza, Tanzania. *Parasites & Vectors*, 10(1): 1–12.
- Fanello, C., Petrarca, V., Della Torre, A., Santolamazza, F., Dolo, G., Coulibaly, M., Alloueche, A., Curtis, C.F., Toure, Y.T. and Coluzzi, M. (2003). The pyrethroid knockdown resistance gene in the *Anopheles gambiae* complex in Mali and further indication of incipient species within *An. gambiae s.l. Insect Molecular Biology*, **12**: 241–245.

- Fillinger, U., Sonye, G, Killeen, G, Knols, B.G.J. and Becker, N. (2004). The practical importance of permanent and semi-permanent habitats for controlling aquatic stages of *Anopheles gambiae sensu lato* mosquitoes: operational observations from a rural town in western Kenya. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 9(12): 1274-1289.
- FMoH (2014). Federal Ministry of Health. An epidemiological profile of malaria in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa:
- Gaffigan, T.V., Wilkerson, R.C., Pecor, J.E., Stoffer, J.A. and Anderson, T. (2018). Systematic Catalog of Culicidae. The Walter Reed Biosystematics Unit: Smithsonian Institution.
- Getachew, D., Balkew, M. and Tekie, H. (2020). Anopheles larval species composition and characterization of breeding habitats in two localities in the Ghibe River Basin, Southwestern Ethiopia. Malaria Journal, 19(1): 1–13.
- Ghebreyesus, T.A., Deressa, W., Witten, K.H., Getachew, A. and Seboxa, T. (2006). Malaria. In: Berhane, Y. et al. (eds). Epidemiology and Ecology of Health and Disease in Ethiopia, p 556-590, Shama Books, Addis Ababa.
- Gillies, M.T. and Coetzee, M. (1987). Cambridgeniab, 1981-2010 Averages. South African Institute for Medical Research, 55. http://www.m etoffice.g ov.uk/public /weather/clima te/u1214q gj0.
- Gillies, M.T. and De Mellion, B. (1968). The anopheline of Africa, south of Sahara (Ethiopian zoogeographical region) South African Institute for Medical research, p. 343.
- Gimmg, J. E., Ombok, M., Kamau, L. and Hawley, W. A. (2001). Characteristics of larval anopheline (Diptera: Culicidae) habitats in western Kenya. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 38(2): 282–288.
- Gimnig, J. E., Ombok, M., Otieno, S., Kaufman, M. G., Vulule, J. M. and Walker, E. D. (2002). Density-dependent development of Anopheles gambiae *s.l.* (Diptera: Culicidae) larvae in artificial habitats. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, **39**(1):162–172.
- Girum, T., Shumbej, T. and Shewangizaw, M. (2019). Burden of malaria in Ethiopia, 2000-2016:
  Findings from the global health estimates 2016. *Tropical Diseases, Travel Medicine and Vaccines*, 5(1): 5–11.

- Grillet, M.E. (2000). Factors associated with the distribution of Anopheles aquasalis and An. oswaldoi (Diptera; culicidae) in a malarious area, Northeastern Venzuella. Journal of Medical Entomology, 37(2):231-238.
- Gu, W., Utzinger, J. and Novak, R.J. (2008). Habitat-based larval interventions: a new perspective for malaria control. *American Journal of Tropical Medical Hygiene*, **78**(1):2–6.
- Hawaria, D., Demissew, A., Kibret, S., Lee, M. C., Yewhalaw, D. and Yan, G. (2020). Effects of environmental modification on the diversity and positivity of anopheline mosquito aquatic habitats at Arjo-Dedessa irrigation development site, Southwest Ethiopia. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty*, 9(1):1–11.
- Himeidan, Y. E., Zhou, G., Yakob, L., Afrane, Y., Munga, S., Atieli, H., El-Rayah, E. A., Githeko, A. K. and Yan, G. (2009). Habitat stability and occurrences of malaria vector larvae in western Kenya highlands. *Malaria Journal*, 8(1): 1–6.
- ICIPE, (2003). Annual Scientific Report. International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology Science Press, Nairobi, p. 137.
- Imam, A.A. and Deeni, Y. (2014). Common types of Anopheles gambiae s.l. breeding habitats in Northwestern Nigeria. Journal of Innovation Research Engineering Science, 4:496–504.
- Kenawy, M. A., Ammar, S. E. and Abdel-Rahman, H. A. (2013). Physico-chemical characteristics of the mosquito breeding water in two urban areas of Cairo Governorate, Egypt. *Journal of Entomological and Acarological Research*, 45(3):17.
- Kenea, O., Balkew, M. and Gebre-Michael, T. (2011). Environmental factors associated with larval habitats of anopheline mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in irrigation and major drainage areas in the middle course of the Rift Valley, central Ethiopia. *Journal of Vector Borne Disease*, 48(2):85–92.
- Kenea, O., Balkew, M., Tekie, H., Gebre-Michael, T., Deressa, W., Loha, E., Lindtjørn, B. and Overgaard, H. J. (2016). Human-biting activities of *Anopheles* species in south-central Ethiopia. *Parasite & Vectors*, 9(1):1–12.

- Kibret, S., Alemu, Y., Boelee, E. Tekie, H., Alemu, D. and Petros, B. (2010). The impact of a small-scale irrigation scheme on malaria transmission around Zeway, Ethiopia. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, **15**(1): 41-50.
- Kibret, S., Ryder, D., Wilson, G.G. and Kumar, L. (2019). Modeling reservoir management for malaria control in Ethiopia. *Scientific Reports*, 9:18075.
- Kibret, S., Wilson, G.G., Ryder, D., Tekie, H. and Petros, B. (2018). Can water-level management reduce malaria mosquito abundance around large dams in sub-Saharan Africa ? *PloS One*, **13**(4):1–12.
- Killeen, G.F., Fillinger, U. and Knols, B.G.J. (2002). Advantages of larval control for African malaria vectors: low mobility and behavioural responsiveness of immature mosquito stages allow high effective coverage. *Malaria Journal*, 1(8): 1-7.
- Koenraadt, C.J.M. and Takken, W. (2003). Cannibalism and predation among larvae of the *Anopheles gambiae* complex. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, **17**(1): 61-66.
- Legesse, Y., Tegegn, A., Belachew, T. and Tushune, K. (2007). Knowledge, attitude and practice about malaria transmission and its preventive measures among households in urban areas of Assosa Zone, Western Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development*, 21(2):157-165.
- Mahesh, R. K. and Jauhari, R. K. (2000b). Interspecific association and index of association among different aquatic forms of Anophelines collected from Saharanpur block of Doon Valley. *Journal of Parasitic Diseases*, 24: 147-150.
- Maheu-Giroux, M. and Castro, M.C. (2014). Cost-effectiveness of larviciding for urban malaria control in Tanzania. *Malaria Journal*, **13**: 477.
- Mahgoub, M. M., Kweka, E. J. and Himeidan, Y. E. (2017). Characterisation of larval habitats, species composition and factors associated with the seasonal abundance of mosquito fauna in Gezira, Sudan. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty*, **6**(1): 1–10.
- Mellese, B. (2008). Graduate Studies Department of Biology the effect of water physical quality and water level changes on the abundance and occurrence of *Anopheles* larvae (Diptera:Culicidae). Issue (July). Addis Ababa University.

- Mereta, S. T., Yewhalaw, D., Boets, P., Ahmed, A., Duchateau, L., Speybroeck, N., Vanwambeke, S. O., Legesse, W., De Meester, L. and Goethals, P. L. (2013). Physico-Chemical and biological characterization of anopheline mosquito larval habitats Diptera: Culicidae: Implications for malaria control. *Parasites &Vectors*, 6(1): 1–16.
- Messenger, L.A., Shililu, J., Irish, S.R., Anshebo, G.Y., Tesfaye, A.G., Ye-Ebiyo, Y., Chibsa, S., Dengela, D., Dissanayake, G. and Kebede, E. (2017). Insecticide resistance in *Anopheles arabiensis* from Ethiopia (2012–2016): A nationwide study for insecticide resistance monitoring. *Malaria journal*, **16**(1):1–14.
- Metzger, M. E. (2004). Managing Mosquitoes in Storm water Treatment Devices Vector-Borne Disease Section, California Department of Health Services ANR Publication 8125 university of California, Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources.
- Minakawa, N., Dida, G. O., Sonye, G. O., Futami, K. and Njenga, S. M. (2012). Malaria vectors in Lake Victoria and adjacent habitats in western Kenya. *PloS One*, **7**(3).
- Minakawa, N., Mutero, C.M., Githure, J.I., Beier, J.C. and Yan, G. (1999). Spatial distribution and habitat characterization of anopheline mosquito larvae in Western Kenya. *America Journal of Tropical Medical Hygiene*, **61**(6):1010–1016.
- Munga, S., Minakawa, N., Zhou, G., Barrack, O. O., Githeko, A. K. and Yan, G. (2005). Oviposition site preference and egg hatchability of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.*: effects of land cover types. *Journal of medical entomology*, **42**(6): 993–997.
- Mwangangi, J. M., Mbogo, C. M., Muturi, E. J., Nzovu, J. G., Githure, J. I., Yan, G., Minakawa, N., Novak, R. and Beier, J. C. (2007). Spatial distribution and habitat characterization of *Anopheles* larvae along the Kenyan coast. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 44(1): 44– 51.
- Nambunga, H.I., Ngowo, S.H., Mapua, A.S., Hape, E.H., Msugupakulya, J.B., Msaky, S.D., Mhumbira, T.N., Mchwembo, R.K., Tamayamali, Z.G., Mlembe, V.S., Njalambaha, M.R., Lwetoijera, W.D., Finda, F.M., Govella, J.N., Matoke-Muhia, D., Kaindoa, W.E. and Okumu, O.F. (2020). Aquatic habitats of the malaria vector *Anopheles funestus* in rural Southeastern Tanzania. *Malaria Journal*, 19(1): 1–11.

- Nyanjom, S.R.G., Chen, H., Gebre-Michael, T., Bekele, E., Shililu, J., Githure, J. I., Beier, J.C. and Yan, G. (2003). Population genetic structure of *Anopheles arabiensis* mosquitoes in Ethiopia and Eritrea. *Journal of Heredity*, **94**(6): 457-463.
- Okogun, G.R. (2005). Life table analysis of *Anopheles* malaria vectors: generational mortality as tool in mosquito vector abundance and control studies. *Journal of Vector Borne Diseases*, 42(2):45–53.
- Okogun, G.R., Nwoke, B. E. B., Okere, A. N., Anosike, J. C. and Esekhegbe, A. C. (2003). Epidemiological implications of preferences of breeding sites of mosquito species in Midwestern Nigeria. *Annals of Agriculture and Environmental Medicine*, **10**(2):217–222.
- Okwa, O. O., Carter, V. and Hurd, H. (2007). Abundance, host preferences and infectivity rates of malaria vectors in Badagry Local Government Area of Lagos, Nigeria. *Nigerian Journal of Parasitology*, **27**(1): 41-48.
- Opoku, A., and Ansa-Asare, O. (2009). The occurrences and habitat characteristics of mosquitoes in Accra, Ghana. *West African Journal of Applied Ecology*, **11**(1).
- Overgaard, H., Tsuda, Y., Suwonkerd, W. and Takagi, M. (2002). "Characteristics of Anopheles minimus (Diptera: Culicidae) larval habitats in Northern Thailand," Environmental Entomology, 31(1):134–141.
- Owusu, D.B. (2016). Mosquito larvae occurrence and habitat characterization on urban wastewater irrigated vegetable farms in the Kumasi metropolis, Ghana (Doctoral dissertation).
- Oyewole, I. O., Momoh, O. O., Anyasor, G. N., Ogunnowo, A. A., Ibidapo, C. A., Oduola, O. A., Obansa, J. B. and Awolola, T. S. (2009). Physico-Chemical Characteristics of *Anopheles* Breeding Sites: Impact on Fecundity and Progeny Development. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, **3** (12): 447-452.
- Paaijmans, K. P. (2008). Weather, water and malaria mosquito larvae: the impact of meteorological factors on water temperature and larvae of the Afro-tropical malaria vector Anopheles gambiae Giles.

- Paaijmans, K.P., Takken, W., Githeko, A.K. and Jacobs, A.F. (2008). The effect of water turbidity on the near-surface water temperature of larval habitats of *Anopheles gambiae s.l. International journal of biometeorology*, **52**(8): 747-753.
- Paaijmans, K.P., Wandago, M.O., Githeko, A.K. and Takken, W. (2007). Unexpected high losses of *Anopheles gambiae s.l.* larvae due to rainfall. *PLoS One*, **2**(11).
- Pemola Devi, N. and Jauhari, R. K. (2005). Species diversity patterns among mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) from certain parts in Garhwal Himalayas, India. *Journal of Applied Bioscience*, **31**:105-113.
- PMI. (2020). Project Final Entomology Report. May 2018.
- Rejmankova, E., Grieco, J., Achee, N. and Roberts, D.R. (2013). Ecology of Larval Habitats. In: Manguin S, editor. *Anopheles* mosquitoes new insights into Malar vectors. Sylvie Manguin, InTech Open, p. 397–446.
- Rueda, L. M., Kim, H. C., Klein, T. A., Pecor, J. E., Sithiprasasna. R., Debboun, M. and Wilkerson, R. C. (2006). Distribution and larval habitat characteristics of *Anopheles hyrcanus* Group and related mosquito species (Diptera: Culicidae) in South Korea. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, **31**(1): 198-205.
- Sattler, M.A., Mtasiwa, D., Kiama, M., Premji, Z., Tanner, M., Killeen, G.G. and Lengeler, C. (2005). Habitat characterization and spatial distribution of *Anopheles* spp. Mosquito larvae in Dares Salaam (Tanzania) during an extended dry period. *Malaria Journal*, 4: 1– 15.
- Scott, T.W. and Morrison, A.C. (2010). Longitudinal field studies will guide a paradigm shift in dengue prevention. Vector Biology, Ecology and Control. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, p. 139–161.
- Seid, A.M. and Yaregal, A. (2019). Malaria Data Analysis in Menge District, Assosa zone, Benishangul Gumuz, Ethiopia, 2017. *Journal of Internal medicine*, 1(1):20-27.
- Service, M. (2008). Medical entomology for students, fourth edition. In Medical Entomology for Students, Fourth Edition. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511811012.
- Shililu, J., Ghebremeskel, T., Mengistu, S., Fekadu, H., Zerom, M., Mbogo, C., Githure, J., Gu,

W., Novak, R. and Beier, J. C. (2003). Distribution of anopheline mosquitoes in Eritrea. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, **69**(3):295–302.

- Shililu, J., Ghebremeskel, T., Seulu, F., Mengistu, S., Fekadu, H., Zerom, M., Asmelash, G. E., Sintasath, D., Mbogo, C., Githure, J., Brantly, E., Beier, J. C. and Novak, R. J. (2004).
  Seasonal abundance, vector behavior, and malaria parasite transmission in Eritrea. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 20(2):155–164.
- Simisek, F. M. (2004). Seasonal Larval and Adult Population Dynamics and Breeding Habitat Diversity of Culex theileri Theobald, 1903 (Diptera: Culicidae) in the Gölbafl > District, Ankara, Turkey \*. Turkish Journal of Zoology, 28:337–344.
- Sinka, M. E., Bangs, M. J., Manguin, S., Rubio-Palis, Y., Chareonviriyaphap, T., Coetzee, M. and Gething, P. W. (2012). A global map of dominant malaria vectors. *Parasites & vectors*, 5(1): 69.
- Sinka, M. E., Rubio-Palis, Y., Manguin, S., Patil, A. P., Temperley, W. H., Gething, P. W., Van Boeckel, T., Kabaria, C. W., Harbach, R. E. and Hay, S. I. (2011). Erratum: The dominant Anopheles vectors of human malaria in the Americas: Occurrence data, distribution maps and bionomic précis. *Parasites & Vectors*, 4(1): 1–26.
- Sunahara, T., Ishizaka, K. and Mogi, M. (2002). Habitat size: a factor determining the opportunity for encounters between mosquito larvae and aquatic predators. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, 27(1):8-20.
- Taffese, H.S., Hemming-Schroeder, E., Koepfli, C., Tesfaye, G., Lee, M.c., Kazura, J., Yan, G.Y. and Zhou, G.F. (2018). Malaria epidemiology and interventions in Ethiopia from 2001 to 2016. *Infectious diseases of poverty*, 7(1): 1–9.
- Teklu, B., Tekie, H., McCartney, M. and Kibret, S. (2010). The effect of water physical quality and water level changes on the occurrence and density of larvae of *Anopheles* mosquitoes around the shoreline of the Koka reservoir, Central Ethiopia. *Hydrology and Earth System Science Discussions*, 7(4): 6025–6055.
- Tiimub, B. M., Adu, B. K. and Obiri-Danso, K. (2012). Physico-chemical Assessment of Mosquito Breeding Sites from Selected Mining Communities at the Obuasi Municipality in Ghana. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*, 2(10):123-129.

- Umar, A. M. (2014). Characterization of *Anopheles* Mosquitoes, Breeding Sites and Retrospective Study of Malaria in Katsina State, Nigeria.p.1-221.
- Utzinger, J., Tozan, Y. and Singer, B.H. (2001). Efficacy and cost-effectiveness of environmental management for malaria control. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, **6**(9):677-687.
- Wamae, P.M., Githeko, A.K., Menya, D.M. and Takken, W. (2010). Shading by Napier grass reduces malaria vector larvae in natural habitats in Western Kenya highlands. *EcoHealth*, 7:485-497.
- White, G.B. (1982). Malaria vector ecology and genetics. *British Medical Bulletin*, **38**(2):207-212.
- World Health Organization (2012). Interim position statement: the role of larviciding for malaria control in sub-Saharan Africa. Geneva, World Health organization, available at h p://www.Who. int/malaria/publications/atoz/larviciding\_position\_statement/en/.
- World Health Organization (2014). World Malaria Report. WHO Global Malaria Program: Retrieved from: www.who.int/malaria (Accessed: January 12, 2020).
- World Health Organization (2020). World Malaria Report 2020. In WHO **73**(1). https://www.who.int/teams/global-malaria-programme/reports/world-malaria-report-2020
- Yewhalaw, D., Van Bortel, W., Denis, L., Coosemans, M., Duchateau, L. and Speybroeck, N. (2010). First evidence of high knockdown resistance frequency in *Anopheles arabiensis* (Diptera: Culicidae) from Ethiopia. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 83(1):122-125.
- Yohannes, M. and Boelee, E. (2012). Early biting rhythm in the Afro-tropical vector of malaria, Anopheles arabiensis, and challenges for its control in Ethiopia. Medical & veterinary entomology, 26(1):103–105.
- Yohannes, M., Haile, M., Ghebreyesus, T., Witten, K., Getachew, A., Byass, P. and Lindsay, S. (2005). Can source reduction of mosquito larval habitat reduce malaria transmission in Tigray Ethiopia? *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, **10**(12):1274-1285.